# **ORIGINAL**

#### SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CV REIT, INC., a Delaware corporation f/k/a CENVILL INVESTORS, INC., and H. IRWIN LEVY,

Petitioners,

vs.

TGI DEVELOPMENT, INC.,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 87,282 District Court of Appeal 4th District - No. 94-2749

FILED

SID ...TITE

MAR 26 1996

CLERK, SUPRIMITEDOURT

PETITIONERS' BRIEF ON THE MERITS BY CV REIT, INC. f/k/a CENVILL INVESTORS, INC. AND H. IRWIN LEVY

JOHN BERANEK of
Macfarlane Ausley Ferguson &
McMullen
Post Office Box 391
227 S. Calhoun Street
Tallahassee, Florida 32302
(904) 224-9115
Fla. Bar No. 005419

and

J. MICHAEL BURMAN
Burman & Critton
712 U.S. One, Suite 300
North Palm Beach, Florida 33408
(407) 842-2820

#### Preliminary Statement

This is a brief by Petitioners, CV Reit, Inc. and H. Irwin Levy. The Petitioner, CV Reit, Inc., was formally known as Cenvill Investors, Inc. and will be so referred to herein. Petitioners seek review and reversal of the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal of January 3, 1996, reported at TGI Development, Inc. v. CV Reit, Inc., 665 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). Jurisdiction is based on the Fourth District's certified conflict with the Second District's opinion in Woodson v. Martin, 663 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995). Woodson was an en banc opinion by the Second District Court of Appeal in which the majority opinion held that the Florida Economic Loss Rule applied to bar a claim for fraud in the inducement to enter into a contract to buy a private residence. The two dissenters in Woodson urged that the Economic Loss Rule did not apply to bar such a claim. In the present case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal agreed with the dissenting opinions from Woodson and specifically disagreed and certified conflict with the majority decision in Woodson. <u>See</u> <u>TGI</u> Development, Inc. v. CV Reit, Inc., 665 So.2d at 366.

There are presently six certified cases from the District Courts of Appeal presenting variations of certified questions on the overall issue of whether the Florida Economic Loss Rule bars

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Cenvill Investors, Inc. was a real estate investment trust and the name of this trust company was changed to CV Reit, Inc. during the litigation. The letters "CV" are a contraction of the word "Cenvill" and "Reit" is a common term referring to a real estate investment trust.

fraud in the inducement claims. Each case is based on its own individual facts. Some are commercial cases while others are consumer law matters. Of course, each case involves a contract plus an assertion of some brand of fraud before or during the performance of the contract. Only the <u>CV Reit</u> case involves the creation of an ongoing business relationship lasting for years between two sophisticated business corporations functioning on an equal bargaining basis. The six cases are:<sup>2</sup>

- 1. Woodson v. Martin, 663 So. 2d 1327 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995);
- Raymond James & Associates, Inc. v. PK Ventures, Inc., 666 So. 2d 174 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995);
- 3. <u>Linn-Well Development Corporation v. Preston & Farely, Inc.</u>, 666 So. 2d 558 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996);
- 4. HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas Aereas Costarricenses, S.A., 661 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995);
- 5. <u>Jarmco, Inc. v. Polygard, Inc.</u>, So. 2d \_\_\_\_, 21 FLW D478 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996); and
- 6. <u>TGI Development, Inc. v. CV Reit, Inc.</u>, 665 So. 2d 366 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996).

The Third District Court of Appeal's decision in HTP, Ltd. v. Lineas, held that the Economic Loss Rule does not apply to bar a contracting party from recovering economic damages from another contracting party for the tort of fraud in the inducement concerning a settlement agreement in litigation. This decision occupies the lead position in the set of cases and has been scheduled for oral argument on May 29, 1996.

In all of these cases, the overall umbrella issue is whether the Economic Loss Rule bars claims for fraud in the inducement. This is a substantial over-simplification of the varying legal

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Hereafter these cases will be referred to by use of a short style.

issues behind each of these cases which are very different in their background and facts.

One thing is absolutely clear. Since this Court's decision in Casa Clara Condominium Assn., Inc. v. Charley Toppino & Sons, Inc., 620 So. 2d 1244 (Fla. 1993), in June of 1993, the Economic Loss Rule and its application to the overall issue of fraud in the inducement has become an extremely active area of litigation. the years since <u>Casa Clara</u>, many civil cases involving contracts with the additional allegation of a count for fraud in the inducement have progressed through the trial courts, on to the district courts of appeal, through that decisional process and now on to this Court. The six cases above have arrived here almost simultaneously. Obviously, the bench and bar are in real need of clarification and guidance from this Court. As noted in Sandarac Ass'n, Inc. v. W.R. Frizzell Architects, Inc., 609 So. 2d 1349, 1352 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), rev. den., 626 So. 2d 207 (Fla. 1993), the rule is much easier to state than it is to apply. The decisions of Florida trial judges and the district courts have been anything but consistent. See Woodson, Lazzara dissenting.

The instant case was decided by the Fourth District Court of Appeal based on the <u>Woodson</u> and <u>HTP</u> opinions from the Second and Third Districts, respectively, which were both unwritten when the briefs and arguments occurred in <u>CV Reit</u>. The Fourth District reversed the trial court's position that the Economic Loss Rule bars fraud int he inducement claims by rejecting the majority position in <u>Woodson</u> and accepting instead the two dissenting

opinions. Because Petitioners believe the instant case is entirely different from the <u>Woodson</u> case, a statement of the proceedings and facts is necessary to appropriate consideration of <u>this</u> case.

#### Proceedings and Facts

TGI v. CV Reit involves a longstanding contractual relationship between sophisticated businessmen on behalf of their The facts are taken from the second amended corporations. complaint which is in the record at R.256-303. This complaint is quoted verbatim at pages 9-13 of this brief. It will be generally designated by ¶ numbers. All contracts were solely between the corporations. The trial attorneys on both sides were experienced and respected commercial litigators with excellent firms. This is not a consumer case and it does not involve the purchase of a private residence. The plaintiff below, TGI Development, Inc., was a developer building condominiums in the Boca Grove Plantation Development. Boca Grove was an exclusive country club residential community with numerous amenities including a golf course, a tennis club, pool areas, and other luxuries. (R.¶ 6,7).Plaintiff, TGI Development, Inc., already owned real estate in the Boca Grove Development and it had purchased an option so that it could buy additional real estate to continue its on-going development and sale of completed units within this upscale community. $^3$  (R.¶ 7,8).

TGI Development was already building and selling units and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>These initial transactions: the acquisition of property and the acquisition of the option to purchase additional property were not alleged to have been a part of any fraudulent conduct by anyone.

decided to go forward with additional land purchases and additional construction. (R. $\P$  7-13). Mr. Frank Zappala was the chief officer of TGI Development who actually resided in the Boca Grove Development and was well-aware of everything that was going on there.

The defendant below, Cenvill Investors, Inc., was a real estate investment trust and a major investor in the Boca Grove Plantation Development. Although denied in its answer and counterclaim, for the purposes of the summary judgment below, Cenvill accepted as true the facts alleged in the plaintiff's second amended complaint. (R.¶ 1-32). Of course, Petitioners also do so now for purposes of review by this Court. As a real estate trust, Cenvill Investors actually had no involvement in the development, but the complaint alleges a totally different set of facts. complaint asserts that Cenvill Investors was a development company which was a major investor in and was actively involved in the planning and construction of Boca Grove. (R.¶ 12). Investors was alleged to have initially invested \$7 million in the venture and to have invested some \$22 million before the financial failure of the project and the take over by a receiver. (R. $\P$  12-20).

Mr. H. Irwin Levy was alleged to be the main officer and director of Cenvill and at all times to have been functioning on behalf of and in the scope of his employment and agency for the Cenvill Company. (R. $\P$ 4). All contractual arrangements as attached to the complaint were between the two corporations: TGI

Development, Inc. and Cenvill Investors, Inc. (R.356-303). There was no contract involving Mr. Levy personally, and there were no assertions that Mr. Levy personally profited from any of his corporate conduct on behalf of his company Cenvill. There were no assertions that Levy gained personally from the supposed "common law fraud" alleged in the complaint. The complaint was amended at least three times. (R.1-94,194,256). The plaintiff attempted to have the case set for jury trial over and over again. (R.355,409,436).

The trial court then entered a summary judgment in favor of CV Reit solely on Count I (fraud). (R.3872). At this point, plaintiff decided to abandon with prejudice all of the other still pending The other counts, including the contract count and CV counts. Reit's counter-claim, were thus determined in favor of CV Reit on the merits. (R.3897-3909,3910-3913). These determinations were not conditional; they were on the merits. TGI appealed solely the fraud ruling and the Fourth District Court of Appeal reversed and also gratuitously granted the plaintiff the right to amend what the Court found to be a very "inartfully pleaded" assertion of fraud in the inducement. There was no motion for leave to amend in the trial court or the Fourth District. The appellant's brief merely argued that the TGI complaint was poorly drafted and the District Court chose to construe this as a motion to amend which was then granted totally without notice that it was being considered.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>Any assertions of such profits were contained in counts which the plaintiff initially asserted and then abandoned. (R.1-10,356-364,384,795,796).

As stated, Cenvill had accepted all of the facts in the second amended complaint and there was never any question about factual issues barring summary judgment. 5 The summary judgment proceeding was certainly not a rush to judgment. The case was filed in early 1989 and had been pending for well over four years when the motion supplemental motion for summary judgment were (R.930,1144). The summary judgment was entered in January of 1994. The complaint initially alleged numerous counts (R.3872). including common law fraud, statutory lender liability, breach of contract, rescission of the contract, and breach of fiduciary duty. (R.1-94). The plaintiff eventually abandoned all counts except for Count I common law fraud and Count III breach of contract. defendants moved to dismiss the complaint and the trial court held that the contract count stated a valid cause of action against the defendants. (R.322-323). The Court set various trial dates, none of which were ever reached.

Plaintiff was represented by an experienced and competent trial firm which specifically pled Count I as "common law fraud" and not as "fraud in the inducement." Exactly the same facts were alleged in support of the fraud count and the breach of contract count. The acts were alleged to have occurred over several years and were specifically recited to have been both the breach of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>The Second Amended Complaint from R.256-303 is quoted verbatim in this brief. It is the source of almost every factual statement. See p. 8-14 herein. Although the parties dealt solely with this existing complaint on appeal, the District Court gave plaintiff a clear and overwhelming message that the complaint should be amended a fourth time. We have no idea whether the trial judge would have granted such a motion, had one been made.

contract(s) and as common law fraud. Exactly the same compensatory damages were sought for the breach of contract as were sought for the common law fraud.

As indicated, almost all of the facts were taken directly from the plaintiff's second amended complaint. The only additional facts in the entire summary judgment argument were merely for clarification and concerned damages. Mr. Zappala, TGI's executive officer lived in Boca Grove and testified that the facts in both counts (fraud and contract) were the same. (T.11). In answers to interrogatories, the plaintiff admitted that the damages claimed under the fraud count and the damages claimed under the contract count were exactly the same. (T.11-20).

Cenvill was a substantial investor starting at \$7 million and going up to \$22 million in Boca Grove Plantation. (R.¶ 12). here was no question as to its substantial financial backing and as alleged, Mr. Levy was at all times acting as an agent for Cenvill. Indeed, it was alleged that Cenvill and Boca Grove Plantation were joint venturers and that Cenvill had basically taken over the development and invested up to \$22 million in Boca Grove Plantation since 1983. (R.¶ 13-15). Despite this, plaintiff would eventually voluntarily dismiss all claims against Boca Grove Plantation and proceed solely against Cenvill and Levy. (R.796). Plaintiff would also abandon most of its claims for compensatory damage claims and filed a Notice of Abandonment of all of its claims for lost profits against Cenvill and Levy. In addition, plaintiff abandoned all of its claims for any damages growing out of a \$4.5 million bank loan

which it had obtained to purchase the additional property in Boca Grove pursuant to its option. (R.795, T.53). Plaintiff also abandoned all of its claims for damages growing out of Cenvill's \$800,000 loan to TGI by stipulating to a judgment.

It is frankly very difficult to figure out just what compensatory damages were still being sought by the end of the case. The last act by TGI Development was to forgo the opportunity of proceeding to trial on its breach of contract claim and the counter-claim where all of the same facts would have been tried before a jury. Instead, plaintiff consented to a judgment against itself on the merits on both the breach of contract count and the counter-claim. Judgment for \$1.1 million was entered against TGI on the \$800,000 loan counter-claim. (R.3912).

We have no alternative other than to simply repeat verbatim the allegations of the complaint which, as stated, were accepted as true for purposes of the summary judgment. We disagree that these are the true facts. Thus, begging the Court's indulgence, the complaint alleged as follows:

#### ALLEGATIONS COMMON TO ALL COUNTS

- 1. TGI, formerly known as Tridel Development, Inc., is a Florida corporation with its principal place of business in Palm Beach County, Florida.
- 2. CENVILL is a foreign corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware and authorized to do business in the State of Florida with its principal place of business in Palm Beach County, Florida.
- 3. LEVY is an individual residing in Palm Beach County, Florida, who at all times material hereto was and is an officer and director of CENVILL.

- 4. All acts and omissions of LEVY complained of herein were within the course and scope of his agency relationship with CENVILL, were carried out by LEVY with the intent of furthering the interests of CENVILL, were either authorized in advance or subsequently ratified by CENVILL and were otherwise conducted under such circumstances as to render CENVILL either directly or vicariously liable for the acts and omissions of LEVY.
- 5. BOCA GROVE, LTD. (hereinafter BOCA GROVE) is a Florida limited partnership of which LaBonte Diversified Development, Inc. (hereinafter LDD) is the sole general partner. BOCA GROVE was the developer of a project known as Boca Grove Plantation.
- 6. Boca Grove Plantation (hereinafter Plantation) is a real estate development project conceived as an exclusive, luxury residential golf and country club community including both single family and multi-family residential units.
- 7. Beginning in approximately 1982, CENVILL acquired a substantial financial interest in Plantation in the amount of approximately \$7,000,000.00, as a joint venture investor in Plantation with BOCA GROVE, LTD. and/or as mortgage creditor of BOCA GROVE secured by an interest in Plantation. The joint venture between CENVILL and BOCA GROVE arose out of an oral agreement between them to engage in the development of Boca Grove Plantation as an exclusive luxury residential golf and country club community. Both joint ventures contributed financing, management direction, property, labor, experience, skill, time, or a combination thereof with the objective of generating a profit to be shared between them without any actual partnership or corporate designation.
- 8. As an inducement to BOCA GROVE to establish the aforedescribed business relationship with CENVILL, LEVY represented that CENVILL, as a knowledgeable and sophisticated developer, would take such action as necessary in the interest of BOCA GROVE to assure the financial success of Plantation.
- 9. Shortly after the initiation of the relationship between CENVILL and BOCA GROVE, BOCA GROVE recognized that market conditions were such that the cash flow demands of the transaction between CENVILL and BOCA GROVE as structured in the written agreements between them would ensure the failure of Plantation. Those facts were communicated to LEVY and CENVILL by BOCA GROVE on various occasions and in various forms from time to time beginning during 1983.

- 10. During 1983 and on numerous occasion thereafter, LEVY and CENVILL continued to promise BOCA GROVE that CENVILL would fulfill its earlier promises to assure the financial success of Plantation.
- 11. Contrary to the express representations of LEVY and CENVILL, CENVILL (acting through LEVY and others) had formulated a scheme to acquire complete control of Plantation at minimal cost to CENVILL and at the expense of BOCA GROVE and other Plantation investors.
- 12. In furtherance of this scheme, CENVILL acquired the first mortgage on Plantation in October 1983, thereby increasing its investment from 7 to 22 million dollars.
- 13. Responding to the continuing and increasingly serious financial problems of Plantation and in furtherance of the ultimate objectives of its scheme, CENVILL modified its written agreements with BOCA GROVE in 1985 and again in 1986. The modification expanded CENVILL's control over Plantation and perpetuated Plantation's financial distress.
- 14. Prior to 1987, CENVILL acquired the right to approve each and every one of BOCA GROVE's expenditures and thereafter managed BOCA GROVE's cash receipts and disbursements, payroll, operations and personnel including the hiring and firing of senior management. CENVILL thereby had direct control over all marketing and development efforts relating to Plantation and first-hand knowledge of the financial condition of the project.
- 15. During approximately June 1985, Plaintiff, TGI became interested in a real estate purchase within Plantation. While contemplating the purchase, TGI was contacted by LEVY who communicated to TGI that he, LEVY, was the operating principal of CENVILL, which in turn was a major investor in Plantation. LEVY further communicated to TGI through words and actions that he, on behalf of CENVILL, controlled the marketing and development decisions of BOCA GROVE as they related to Plantation.
- 16. In reliance upon CENVILL and LEVY's commitment to and involvement in Plantation, TGI entered into a Purchase and Sale Agreement with BOCA GROVE on February 28, 1986, which contract included an option granted to TGI for additional real estate purchases. Said agreement is attached as Exhibit A.
- 17. The transaction between TGI and BOCA Grove required TGI to enter into an Exclusive Agency Brokerage and Marketing Program Agreement (attached as Exhibit B).

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