Od7

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA 282 CASE NO. 87,382

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

- (1) A misrepresentation of a material fact;
- (2) The representor of the misrepresentation, knew or should have known of the statement's falsity;
- (3) Intent by the representor that the representation will induce another to rely and act on it; and
- (4) Resulting injury to the party acting in justifiable reliance on the representation.

Lou Bachrodt Chevrolet, Inc. v. Savage, 570 So.2d 306, 308 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990), review denied, 581 So.2d 165 (Fla. 1991). Accord Johnson v. Davis, 480 So.2d 625 (Fla. 1985); Lance v. Wade, 457 So.2d 1008 (Fla. 1984).

As a result, Mr. Levy plainly cannot avoid liability for his own fraudulent misrepresentations simply by hiding behind the skirts of his corporation:

. . . Plaintiff alleges that based on Schoell's fraudulent representations he was induced to enter into a contract to pay for the construction of the racing boat.

We reject Schoell's argument that he is shielded from individual liability because he acted as an agent and corporate representative of defendant corporations. A corporate officer may be individually liable for torts committed even while acting as the representative of the corporate entity. See A-1 Racing Specialties, Inc. v. K & S Imports of Broward County,

Inc., 576 So.2d 421, 422 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); P. V. Constr. Corp. v. Kovner, 538 So.2d 502, 504 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989); Orlovsky v. Solid Surf, Inc., 405 So.2d 1363, 1364 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981). Therefore, the trial court improperly granted summary judgment on this basis.

Roth v. Nautical Engineering Corp., 654 So.2d 978, 979-80 (Fla. 4th DCA 1995). See also Jones v. Childers, 18 F.3d 899 (11th Cir. 1994) (construing Florida law; "economic loss rule" does not bar fraud action against president of corporation, where plaintiff's only contractual relationship was with the corporation). Most respectfully, whatever the merits of CV Reit's position concerning application of the "economic loss rule" to the plaintiff's claim for fraud in the inducement, Mr. Levy clearly has no leg to stand upon here.

Next, the defendants argue that Mr. Levy's alleged misrepresentations amounted to no more than mere "puffing," and that they therefore cannot support an action for fraud. There are two things wrong with this argument as well. Once again, like the previous miscellaneous arguments, this position was not advanced in the trial court as a ground for summary judgment, so it is not properly raised here. Second, even if the position had been asserted in the motion for summary judgment, it would have been erroneous. The misrepresentations attributed to Mr. Levy were not mere exaggerated opinions, or "puffing"; they were the following:

- 21. LEVY unequivocally stated to TGI that CENVILL had a major investment in Plantation and a strong personal commitment to the principals in BOCA GROVE such that CENVILL would never foreclose its mortgage interest in the project, but would instead utilize its own assets to assure the continued viability of BOCA GROVE.
- 22. LEVY further stated that a substantial portion of the proceeds of the sale from BOCA GROVE to TGI would be set aside to assure continuation of a quality marketing program for Plantation.

- 23. LEVY further stated that the financial obligations between BOCA GROVE and CENVILL had been met in a timely fashion and were in good standing to date.
- 24. The aforedescribed statements were made by LEVY for the purpose of inducing TGI's reliance and with knowledge that TGI would and did, in fact, rely upon the statements in deciding to purchase the additional optioned Plantation land.
- 25. The statements when made were false and were known by LEVY to be false in the following material respects:
- a. At the same time LEVY was assuring TGI that CENVILL would never foreclose on BOCA GROVE, LEVY knew that CENVILL was contemplating foreclosure proceedings.
- b. CENVILL had no intent to protect the viability of BOCA GROVE, but intended instead to take over Plantation from BOCA GROVE at the cheapest possible price and without regard to the impact of such takeover of BOCA GROVE on any other developer involved in Plantation.
- c. CENVILL never had an intent to set aside any proceeds of the sale from BOCA GROVE to TGI for marketing and, in fact, never did make any effort to have any funds set aside. Instead, said funds were intended to be used and were used to reduce BOCA GROVE's indebtedness to CENVILL.
- d. BOCA GROVE was repeatedly delinquent in meeting its financial obligations to CENVILL and was subject to foreclosure at the very time that CENVILL was assuring TGI of BOCA GROVE's good standing.

The representations alleged in paragraph 23 were statements of past and existing fact -- and if they were false at the time they were made, as alleged in paragraph 25d, they will plainly support an action for fraudulent misrepresentation. See 27 Fla. Jur.2d, Fraud & Deceit, §19 (and numerous decisions cited therein). The representations alleged in paragraphs 21 and 22 were statements of present intent to act in a certain way in the

future — and if Mr. Levy had no intention of conducting himself in that manner at the time he represented otherwise, as alleged in paragraphs 25a, 25b, and 25c, they will plainly support an action for fraudulent misrepresentation. See, e. g., Home Seeker's Realty Co. v. Menear, 102 Fla. 7, 135 So. 402 (1931); Stow v. National Merchandise Co., Inc., 610 So.2d 1378 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992); Palmer v. Santa Fe Healthcare Systems, Inc., 582 So.2d 1234 (Fla. 1st DCA), review denied, 593 So.2d 1052 (Fla. 1991); Bongard v. Winter, 516 So.2d 27 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987), cause dismissed, 520 So.2d 584, review denied, 525 So.2d 881 (Fla. 1988); Perry v. Cosgrove, 464 So.2d 664 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985).

Next, and finally, the defendants resort to the stipulation by which the breach of contract claim and counterclaim were ultimately resolved, and assert that the plaintiff's present absence of a contract remedy cannot be asserted to bolster its position here. Although we do not understand the purpose of the assertion (and it is not developed in the argument in any meaningful way), we do know that petitioners' counsel relied on the stipulation below to accuse us of an impropriety; and because it is possible that the stipulation will be utilized to support a similar charge in the petitioners' reply brief, we feel we must clarify the point briefly to protect against that eventuality. We will clarify it by quoting the defense to the charge which we included in our reply brief in the district court:

According to the defendants, it was "improper" for us to raise this argument [that even if the "economic loss rule" were somehow implicated by the fact that the plaintiff was asserting a mere *claim* for essentially the same damages in both counts, the summary final judgment was nevertheless premature because it might ultimately be concluded in the litigation that the plaintiff had no claim at all for damages in its breach of contract action] because we stipulated below that we would not. We plead not guilty to this indecorous charge. As we explained to the Court in our initial brief, the order in issue

here, the "Final Judgment as to Count I," was not immediately appealable because both Count III and the counterclaim remained pending. In order to render the order appealable, the plaintiff stipulated to a dismissal of Count III and the entry of a judgment on the counterclaim (R. 3900-03). Because the defendants were apparently concerned that the dismissal of Count III might provide us with an argument on appeal which we did not have at the time that the motion for summary judgment directed to Count I was argued, the following paragraph was inserted into the stipulation:

4. Plaintiff agrees that it will not seek to bolster its appeal or seek reversal of the Final Judgment as to Count I based on its voluntary dismissal of the Breach of Contract action pursuant to this Agreement. Plaintiffs [sic] agree that in no way will they argue in the appeal that the fact that they have no available remedy for breach of contract makes their fraud claim viable. Plaintiffs [sic] also agree that Defendants will not be in anyway [sic] prejudiced in the appeal by agreeing to enter into this agreement in order to accommodate Plaintiffs' [sic] desire to appeal at this time, and that the agreement will not be construed by the parties, and should not be construed by the Court, in any fashion to prejudice the Defendants. Defendants agree that Plaintiff's dismissal of their [sic] breach of contract count and entry of judgment on Defendant's [sic] Counterclaim will in no way prejudice [P]laintiff in their [sic] appeal of the final judgment entered in Defendant's [sic] favor on the fraud count.

(R. 3902-03).

With all due respect to opposing counsel, the only reasonable construction of this perfectly sensible paragraph is that we would not argue on appeal that the post-summary judgment dismissal of Count III somehow revived Count I of the complaint, and that our arguments on appeal would be based on the record that existed at the time of the summary judgment hearing, when both Counts I and III were pending. In

hindsight, the stipulation would possibly have been clearer if the second sentence had included one additional word: "Plaintiffs [sic] agree that in no way will they argue in the appeal that the fact that they [now] have no available remedy for breach of contract makes their fraud claim viable." The word "now" is fairly implied by the context of the entire paragraph, however; and its necessary implication is underscored by the final sentence of the paragraph, in which the defendants agreed that the dismissal of Count III would not prejudice the plaintiff in challenging the dismissal of Count I in this appeal. Fairly read, the stipulation was that we would limit our arguments here to the arguments made at the summary judgment hearing, when both Count I and Count III were pending, and that we would not assert the subsequent dismissal of Count III as a ground for reversal here -- and we were very careful to do exactly that.

Most respectfully, nothing in the stipulation purports to deprive us of any arguments which were available to us on the record as it existed at the time of the summary judgment hearing; those arguments are the only arguments which we made; we based no argument at all on the subsequent dismissal of Count III; and we are frankly annoyed at counsel's charge that we deliberately violated the stipulation in order to gain an undue advantage here. If anything, it is counsel for the defendants who has violated the stipulation by repeatedly referencing the dismissal of Count III in his argument for affirmance of the dismissal of Count I. No useful purpose would be served by pursuing this counter-charge, however, so we will leave it alone. . . .

(Appellant's reply brief, pp. 9-11).¹¹ Most respectfully, neither the defendants' principal argument nor their several miscellaneous arguments have any merit, and the district court's decision should be approved.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN "AL-LOW[ING] TGI, IF IT BE SO ADVISED, TO REPLEAD

¹¹ In this connection, we should note that we have carefully toed the line in this Court as well, and have limited our arguments to those available to us on the record as it existed at the time of the hearing on the defendants' motion for summary judgment.

ITS FRAUDULENT INDUCEMENT CLAIM IN AN AMENDED PLEADING" AFTER REMAND.

In their second issue, the defendants do not complain of the district court's conclusion that the plaintiff's complaint sufficiently alleged a claim for common law fraud in the inducement; however, they do contend that the district court committed reversible error in inserting the following footnote in its opinion: "Even though we find the claim sufficiently pleaded, on remand we direct the trial court to allow TGI, if it be so advised, to replead its fraudulent inducement claim in an amended pleading." *TGI Development, Inc. v. CV Reit, Inc.*, 665 So.2d 366, 366 n. 2 (Fla. 4th DCA 1996). According to the defendants, this grant of leave to amend was prohibited by this Court's decision in *Dober v. Worrell*, 401 So.2d 1322 (Fla. 1981). We disagree. *Dober* is entirely inapposite to the footnote of which the defendants complain.

Before we demonstrate the inapplicability of *Dober*, however, we must take issue with the following assertion in the defendants' brief: "Then, for the first time on appeal, appellate counsel changed horses and began arguing that the complaint was poorly worded, inartfully drawn and this was the reason the summary judgment was granted" (petitioners' brief, p. 44). This assertion is simply false. As should be clear from our restatement of the case and facts, it was the *defendants* who insisted in the trial court that the plaintiff's second amended complaint was inartfully drafted. In fact, the defendants conceded in the trial court that the "economic loss rule" did *not* bar claims for fraud in the inducement, but argued that they were entitled to summary judgment nevertheless for the sole reason that the plaintiff had chosen to base both the fraud count and the breach of contract count on the "same set of facts."

In a rather telling admission, defendants' counsel even conceded, in effect, that the defendants were not entitled to a summary judgment because the law required it, but

simply because the plaintiff had pled its breach of contract action poorly:

Now I will be the first to admit that if I were the plaintiff and I could do this all over again, maybe I'd just carve out this loan transaction and put it in back of the complaint and talk about the \$800,000 and that would be the end, and [I] wouldn't be there [here?] then. But that's not what they have done.

(SR. T2: 62).

Most respectfully, it was the *defendants* who contended that the complaint was inartfully drafted, and that they were entitled to win for that reason alone -- and because that is the *only* thing they argued to the trial court, that simply had to be the reason why the trial court granted their motion. As a result, we can hardly be faulted for arguing on appeal, just as plaintiff's counsel had argued to the trial court, that the complaint sufficiently alleged a claim for fraudulent inducement distinguishable from and independent of the claim for breach of contract -- and alternatively, that even if the pleading was inartfully drafted in that respect, that was no reason for ordering the entry of a final judgment in the defendants' favor. In fact, given the defendants' position in the trial court, that was *the* issue on appeal. It was therefore not even arguably a "change of horses" argued for the first time on appeal, as defendants' counsel now claims -- and frankly, we think the Court has been disserved by counsel's undeniably false claim to the contrary.

In any event, *Dober* is simply beside the point here. In that case, the plaintiffs brought a medical malpractice action against several physicians. In their answer, the physicians alleged as an affirmative defense that the statute of limitations barred the plaintiffs' claim. The plaintiffs did not file any further pleading. The physicians then moved for summary judgment on their statute of limitations defense; they proved their defense conclusively; and the motion was therefore granted. On appeal, the plaintiffs

argued -- for the first time in the case, and notwithstanding that they had failed to allege the affirmative defense of fraudulent concealment in a reply to the defendants' statute of limitations defense -- that the summary judgment was erroneous because a fact question was presented on the statute of limitations defense by the defendants' fraudulent concealment of the claim.

Because the fraudulent concealment defense had not been pled or raised in any other manner in the trial court, the district court *affirmed* the defendants' summary final judgment, but remanded the case to allow the plaintiffs to amend their pleadings to assert the affirmative defense of fraudulent concealment. This Court disapproved of the remand, with the following observation:

It is our view that a procedure which allows an appellate court to rule on the merits of a trial court judgment and then permits the losing party to amend his initial pleadings to assert matters not previously raised renders a mockery of the "finality" concept in our system of justice. Clearly, this procedure would substantially extend litigation, expand its costs, and, if allowed, would emasculate summary judgment procedure.

401 So.2d at 1324 (emphasis supplied).

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